OA 4-7-93

FILE Days

NOV 10 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,487

CHARLES HENRY WILLIAMS

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
1351 NW 12th Street, Room 800
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 547-7300

and

May L. Cain, Esquire
CAIN & SNIHUR
Special Assistant Public Defender
16300 N.E. 19th Avenue, Suite 224
North Miami Beach, Florida 33162
(305) 956-9000
Fla Bar No. 301310
Attorneys for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, CHARLES HENRY WILLIAMS, was the defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal.

The parties will be referred to both as they appeared in the trial court and as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" will be used to refer to the record on appeal.

The symbol "T" will be used to refer to the trial transcript.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 12, 1989 the State filed a five count information charging the Petitioner with sexual battery of CC (over 11 years of age); kidnapping of CC; robbery with a weapon (a sharp metallic object) of cocaine from CC; tampering with a witness, to wit: CC; and possession of cocaine, all allegedly occurring on March 18, 1989. (R. 1-6a). On April 27, 1990 the State filed an amended information. (R. 7-11, 19). The Petitioner was acquitted on the tampering with a witness charge. (R. 31).

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs or Acts, on August 11, 1989. (R. 36). Included in that notice was case no. 89-12937 wherein Petitioner was charged with sexual battery and kidnapping of LC. (R. 36, 75). Also, prior to trial, the State filed a Motion for Material Witness Bond requesting that LC, an alleged victim of an allegedly similar battery is a material witness under Williams rule against Petitioner. (R. 75). On December 22, 1989, the State filed another Williams rule notice naming BG, an alleged victim of an attempted murder and sexual battery. (R. 32-33). On December 23, 1989, the defense moved to strike this notice as untimely under Section 90.404(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (R.94-95). The State responded with an ore tenus Motion for Continuance of the trial scheduled for January 2, 1990 which was granted over defense objection. (R.99). defense also filed a Motion in Limine to prevent the prosecution from introducing at trial, alleged "similar fact evidence." (R.103-112). The trial court denied the defense motions. (R. 203-207).

A Motion for Change of Venue was made and denied. (R. 82.91).

The State filed a Motion for Order in Limine to prevent the defense from eliciting reference to drug use by the state witnesses and prior sexual activities by the alleged victims, among other things. (R. 193.195).

After a jury trial the Petitioner was found guilty of kidnapping, sexual battery without a weapon, and possession of cocaine, as charged. (R. 256-260). He was found not guilty of witness tampering. (R. 259).

Appellant was adjudicated guilty on April 27, 1990. (R. 262-263). He was sentenced to 40 years on Counts 1 and 4; 15 years on Count 3; and 5 years on Count 5, all to run concurrently, with credit for time served. (R. 264-268).

Counsel was appointed for purposes of appeal. (R. 271). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. (R. 282). On January 14, 1992 the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the Petitioner's convictions and sentence. (R. 288-290). Rehearing was denied. (R. 291). A timely Notice to Invoke Discretionary Review was filed. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction on October 14, 1992. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 23, 1990 a jury trial commenced before the Honorable Sidney B. Shapiro in Dade County, Florida. CC testified that she is 30 years old, 5'7" tall and weighed 110 lbs. on March 18, 1989. (T. 653). At 9:00 p.m. CC went to her friend "Donald's" house to get high on crack cocaine. (T. 654). After getting high she fell asleep. (T. 655). When she awoke, she wanted more crack, but there wasn't any. (T. 655). She became angry and went to 44th Street and N.W. 17th Avenue to purchase crack cocaine. (T.656). When she was buying the crack, she noticed Petitioner, whom she identified in Court, across the street. (T. 660-661).

The Petitioner was wearing a uniform with a white shirt and I.D. badge. (T. 661). CC thought the Petitioner was a police officer and she continued to walk towards Donald's. (T. 661-663). She purchased a nickel bag of crushed rock cocaine for five dollars. (T. 6632).

Petitioner followed her and asked her where he could go to smoke crack. (T. 664). He said he would smoke in abandoned cars around the block. (T. 665). She said it was not a good idea because police patrol there. (T. 665-666).

There was more dialogue about where to smoke. (T.667). CC testified that at this time, she was punched behind her left ear, grabbed and choked. (T. 667-668). She screamed. (T.668). As she screamed, she testified, that Petitioner told her he would kill

her. (T. 669). She told him he could have anything he wanted but not to kill her, according to her testimony. (T. 671).

According to CC, Petitioner knelt over her with one knee on her rib cage and the other around her neck. (T. 672). She was going to scream, but testified she felt a sharp metal object at her neck. (T. 672). She testified that he told her to go under the hood of a car positioned nearby. (T. 673). He unbuttoned his pants and told her to give him the dope she just purchased. (T. 675-676). She dropped it on the ground and he put it in his pants pocket. (T. 676).

She pulled down her pants to her knees. (T. 677). He was over her, on his knees straddled over her. (T. 677). He pulled her pants off, masturbated himself with one hand and choked her with the other, according to her testimony. (T. 678). He got an erection and penetrated her. (T. 679). He left. (T. 681). She ran into the street screaming. (T. 681). She saw a friend, Demetrius, and told him what happened. (T. 684). She waived down a police car. (T.685). The police called Petitioner over. (T. 686). The police took the cocaine from the Petitioner and threw it into the street later retrieving it. (T. 688). The police did not believe CC initially as she had no cuts, no scratches, no bruises and no torn clothing. (T. 701-703). The people she knew just ignored her. (T. 704).

CC's mother is a L.P.N. (T. 696). Her mother spoke to her about the Rape Treatment Center. (T. 695). She went there. (T. 713).

At trial, Demetrius Stevens refused to testify and was held in contempt of court. (T. 730).

Officer Frank Motto was flagged down that evening. (T. 747). Petitioner told police that he and CC were going to have a good time with cocaine. (T. 753).

Office Mario Garcia took a clear blue plastic bag with suspect cocaine from Petitioner when Petitioner voluntarily gave it to him. (T. 782-783).

Detective Larry Jackson, the lead investigator, responded to the scene. (T. 788). The Petitioner told him he helped CC purchase cocaine and they had sex voluntarily. (T. 804). Petitioner told Jackson he was willing to go to jail for the cocaine but that he did not rape CC. (T. 804). Jackson further testified that a specimen was obtained from Petitioner at the Dade County Jail, over defense objection and Motion for Mistrial. (T. 805). He stated this a second time as well. (T. 808). He affirmed that CC's clothing was not torn, she had no cuts, scratches or bruises. (T. 815). CC had some dirt in her hair. (T. 814).

Dr. Alfred Abu Hamand, an expert witness in obstetrics and gynecology saw CC at the Rape Treatment Center at Jackson Memorial Hospital. (T. 816-818). He found sperm present but no bruises, lacerations or trauma. (T. 823-833).

Criminologist Victor Alpizar testified that the Petitioner's blood type was consistent with blood and saliva form CC's vaginal swabs. (T. 859).

Criminologist Sherrie Reynolds testified that the substance

taken from Petitioner was cocaine. (T. 873).

Over defense objection, LC testified that she is 28 years old, 5'5" tall and in March of 1989 weighed 140 lbs. (T. 888). She identified Petitioner in Court as a man she met at N.W. 27th Avenue and 46th Street in March of 1989. (T. 889). She had used crack that night but was not high when she allegedly saw Petitioner. (T. 889). He was in a blue work uniform according to her testimony. (T. 890). She stated Petitioner asked her if she smoked and she offered him sex for money and drugs. (T. 891). He offered her \$10.00, two cocaine rocks and half a bag of marijuana. (T. 891). They went to a rooming house but before they rang the bell, Petitioner went to look for a can to smoke cocaine. (T. 896).

When she turned her back on him, she testified that she felt something around her neck; that Petitioner pulled her and choked her at the same time. (T. 896). The pressure around her neck prevented her from screaming. (T. 898). She lost control of herself, felt her eyes rolling, went "semi-out" and fell to the ground. (T. 899). She was lying on her back on the ground and she said Petitioner straddled her and had his hands around her neck. (T. 900). She testified he choked her with one hand and began to masturbate himself with the other. (T. 901). Eventually, he penetrated her, and ejaculated. (T. 902). He told her he was leaving and not to say a word or he would kill her, according to LC. (T. 903). She did not call police because no one would believe her. (T. 904). She is facing an armed robbery charge and a dependency action involving her son. (T. 908). The prosecutor promised her they would win the case. (T. 909).

LC had pending cases which were dropped. (T. 923). She does not remember the date this occurred, she had had cocaine and beers. (T. 930). She stated she was "unemployed." (T. 931). The defense objected as it would have impeached her by showing she was a prostitute, but the court did not permit the defense to do so. (T. 934). LC identified a photo of Petitioner when police showed it to her. (T. 938).

Over defense objection, BG was called as a State witness. (T. 947). She is 31 years old, 5'1", and in October, 1989, she weighed 100 lbs. (T. 947).

On October 21, 1989 she testified that she was walking through a park at Acola Lake Elementary School near 79th Street and met Petitioner as she cut through the school yard. (T. 948-949). She identified Petitioner in Court. (T. 950). He wore a white shirt like a uniform, jeans and tennis shoes. (T. 951). He looked clean and neat. (T. 951). She told Petitioner in response to a question by him that she was going to the Tropicana Bar, approximately 1/2 blocks away. (T. 952). He asked her if she knew where he could get drugs. (T. 952). She told him "no" because she did not know if he was a cop. (T. 952).

When she arrived at the bar at 79th Street and N.W. 10th Avenue, she told Petitioner where he could buy drugs and she went into the bar. (T. 955). She was there almost an hour and had three to four beers. (T. 955). Petitioner asked her if she dates and she said no. (T. 955). Dating means having sex for money or drugs, and

she told Petitioner about a "date." (T. 957). She left to go to another lounge and introduced Petitioner to a woman who sold sex for drugs. (T. 958). She went to the Montego Lounge and consumed more beer and alcohol. (T. 958). She left that bar with her friend Kevin and they smoked \$60.00 worth of crack with others. (T. 959). Kevin walked her back to Montego Lounge and they talked for an hour. (T. 959).

She left and walked down N.W. 7th Avenue and turned at 80th Street. (T.960). She heard someone say "Hey" and saw Petitioner. (T.961). She testified Petitioner put his arms around her neck and choked her, and picked her up off the ground. (T.963). He took her down the alley according to her testimony, where she does not remember anything that happened until she awoke and saw a light in her face and a man asking her if she was all right. (T. 963-964). Her pants and underwear were down. (T. 965). Police were called. (T.966). Later, she saw Petitioner at a friend's house and left to call police. (T.968). She has been convicted of a felony three times. (T.969).

Lester Haney testified for the State that on October 23, 1988 he woke up and heard noises and went outside of his house at 752 N.W. 81st Street with a flashlight and gun. (T.981-982). In a vacant lot across the street he observed a couple having sex, lying down in the weeds. (T.983). He shined his flashlight and told them to get up and leave. (T.983). The man got up and left. (T.983). The woman had her pants around her knees and told him the man tried to kill her and to call police. (T.986). He never saw the man's

face. (T. 987).

Detective Nicholas Degiudice testified that on October 28, 1988 he met BG who appeared to be hysterical. (T. 990). She told him that the person who attacked her on a previous occasion was inside a house one block away. (T.991). When he arrived he observed Petitioner whom he identified in court, ducking behind a wall. (T. 991-992). Both sides rested. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner was tried for three sexual batteries at once rather than the one for which he was charged in the case at bar. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's admission of these alleged collateral crimes, as proof of "modus operandi," "common scheme or plan," and to rebut the defense of consent.

The First and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have held that where, as here, the only issue is consent, the admission of collateral crimes evidence requires reversal as it is not relevant to show "modus operandi" or "common scheme or plan," when the sole issue is consent, which is unique to the alleged victim. This conflicting reasoning creates inconsistencies and confusion in the application of the law.

Where, as here, the sole issue is whether the prosecutrix consented, collateral crimes evidence is inadmissible.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE TESTIMONY REGARDING THE PETITIONER'S ALLEGED INVOLVEMENT IN TWO "SIMILAR" FACT SEXUAL BATTERY INCIDENTS, REVEALING THE COMMISSION OF TWO COLLATERAL CRIMINAL ACTS INVOLVING UNRELATED PERSONS; WHERE THE EVIDENCE BECAME THE SIGNIFICANT FEATURE OF THE PETITIONER'S TRIAL AND WAS NOT RELEVANT TO A MATERIAL ISSUE SINCE THE SOLE ISSUE AT TRIAL WAS CONSENT.

Jurisdiction in this cause was granted due to the distinct split of authority between Florida District Courts of Appeal on the admissibility of similar fact evidence to establish lack of consent in a sexual battery case. The conflict in Florida courts is indicative of the same problem encountered on this issue by courts nationwide. Admissibility in Rape Case, of Evidence that Accused Raped or Attempted to Rape Person other than Prosecutrix, 2 A.L.R. 4th 330 (1980 and Supp. 1992).

In 1959, this Court in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So 2d 654, 661 (Fla 1959) <u>reh. den.</u> 1959, <u>cert. den.</u> 361 U.S. 847, 80 S.Ct.102, 4 L.Ed. 2d 86 (1959) (<u>Williams I</u>) noted that "any fact relevant to prove a fact in issue is admissible into evidence unless its admissibility is precluded by some specific rule of exclusion." <u>id</u>. at 658. The <u>Williams I</u> decision contains an in-depth history of the rule of admissibility of similar fact of evidence, noting the confusion throughout the years in judicial attempts to simplify the rule. id. at 658.

Section 90.404(2)(a) <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1987) codified the decision rendered by this court in Williams I, supra. It provides:

Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

In <u>Williams</u> I, <u>Supra</u>, this court repeatedly cautioned that "the relevancy of this type of evidence should be cautiously scrutinized before it is determined to be admissible." <u>id</u> at 662. The Supreme Court of the United States has expounded on the dangers posed by the admission of similar fact evidence.

In Williams I there was a factual dispute as to the events preceding the sexual acts. These acts occurred in an automobile parked outside of a department store. The prosecutrix claimed that Williams hid in the back seat of her car awaiting her return from After she returned to the car and had driven a short distance, Williams suddenly reached over from the back seat of the car, stabbed her with an ice pick, and forced her to engage in Williams testified at trial in his own behalf. sexual acts. denied he was hiding in the backseat of the car. He stated that the ice pick wound was caused by his stopping the car suddenly, indicating that he, not she was the driver. He testified that he the prosecutrix in the parking lot pursuant to prior arrangement, and that his sexual relations with her were accomplished with consent and without threat. He also testified that he and the prosecutrix had prior dates and had consensual sex at those times as well. This Court noted at page 656, "According to his version, the gruesome details of the fatal night related by the prosecutrix did not occur."

A fact considered important by this Court in <u>Williams</u> I was that a deputy sheriff who arrested the Petitioner the following day, testified that Williams told him that "when he saw the automobile he thought it was his brother's and crawled in the back to take a nap." <u>id</u>. at 657. He did not tell the deputy sheriff he had had prior sexual relations with the prosecutrix. On the witness stand, Williams denied making that statement to the deputy sheriff.

As a result of all of these facts, the trial court in <u>Williams</u> I permitted the admission of testimony of a police officer and Judy Baker, age 16, who testified that approximately six weeks prior to the charged incident, she had parked her car at approximately the same hour and in the same parking lot as the prosecutrix in the charged incident. Baker testified that upon returning to her car, she opened the door and observed the head of a man on the floor in the backseat of the car. She screamed and two policemen came to her rescue. Williams was identified as the man in the back of the car. Later, at police headquarters, Williams told police that he had mistaken the car for his brother's automobile and had crawled into the backseat of it to take a nap.

A review of the <u>Williams</u> I decision as well as the codification found in Section 90.404(2)(a) reveals that Baker's testimony was relevant to show William's motive, opportunity,

intent, preparation, plan (hiding in backseat of car story) and absence of mistake or accident (ie. the ice pick), all of which was disputed by William's own testimony, and at issue as a result.

This Honorable Court, one year later, in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 117 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1960) (<u>Williams</u> II) reversed a murder conviction and death sentence finding at page 475:

In as much as evidence of the later crime was admissible only because of its <u>relevancy</u> to the identity of the accused and the murder weapon and the similarity of the pattern defined in the two incidents, <u>the question then arises whether or not the state was permitted to go too far in introduction of testimony about the later crime so that the inquiry transcended the bounds of relevancy to the charge being tried, and made the later offense a feature instead of an incident. (emphasis, supplied)</u>

<u>Williams</u> II stood for the proposition that not only must the evidence of other crimes be <u>relevant</u> but it also limited the introduction of such crimes when the later offense(s) become a feature of the trial.

This Honorable Court has now before it, <u>Williams</u> III, <u>Williams</u> <u>v. State</u>, 592 So 2d 350 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1992) <u>reh. den.</u> 1992, <u>cert.</u>, <u>granted</u> October 14, 1992 (case no. 79,487). Unlike <u>Williams</u> I, the Petitioner herein did not take the stand and place in issue <u>any</u> of the events leading up to the alleged sexual battery. He even admitted to police that he was possessing cocaine and that he and the prosecutrix had had sex. (T. 782-783,804). The <u>only</u> issue of contention in the case at bar was whether or not the prosecutrix consented. In fact, the lead investigator testified that the prosecutrix had no cuts, scratches, or bruises, and her clothing was not torn. (T. 814-815).

As a result, the testimony of B.G. complaining of an alleged incident some seven (7) months after the incident for which Petitioner was convicted herein, was totally irrelevant.

Additionally, L.C.'s testimony was that she offered the Petitioner sex for money and drugs. (T. 891). She consented to have sex with the Petitioner. The prosecutrix herein never testified as to any exchange of sex for drugs. The alleged situation was different.

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