AA 4-7-93

FILED
SID J. WHITE
JAN 22 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79,487

CHARLES HENRY WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

State Attorney
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
Miami, Florida

PAUL MENDELSON
Assistant State Attorney
Florida Bar # 254517
1351 Northwest 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 547-7093

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

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals supported its holding that the other crime evidence was properly admitted with the following reasoning:

In order to be convicted of rape appellant must have engaged in the conduct intentionally and knowingly without the prosecutrix's consent. It is the lack of consent on the part of the prosecutrix that is the essence of offense of When rape. defensive theory of consent is raised, a defendant necessarily disputes his intent to do $t\,h\,e$ act without the consent of prosecutrix. His intent is thereby placed in issue. Such intent cannot be inferred from the mere act of intercourse with the prosecutrix. indictment herein alleges a lack of consent by means of force and threats.

In the instant case, appellant admitted having sexual intercourse with the prosecutrix. He maintained that consented to the act, thus rendering his actions noncriminal. His testimony raised a defensive theory of no force or threats. This evidence directly contradicted the testimony previously given by the prosecutrix, The testimony of D ${\tt H}$ concerning an attempted sexual offense committed upon her by appellant in the same manner, geographical location within the approximate time frame as the offense charged was relevant to appellant intended to have whether sexual intercourse with the prosecutrix in the instant case without her consent by means of force and threats.

607 S.W.2d at 501

In this case, evidence of the similar crimes committed by the defendant on L and Beverly shows that when **he** approached women such as C . in the manner that he did he acted with the intent to have nonconsensual sex. Indeed, the evidence of such intent is most clearly shown by the testimony of L and B that the defendant committed a forcible sex crime on them even though he had been given the opportunity to have consensual sex. (T. 815, 816, 1021, 1022.) finding that the defendant intended to engage in nonconsensual sex when he approached C , would obviously have great probative value in evaluating C testimony that he attacked her consistent with such an intent, the other crime evidence was properly admitted.

As at least implicitly recognized in many of the aforecited cases, other crime evidence, under these

circumstances, has substantial probative value in corroborating the testimony of the prosecutrix. When two women, who are unknown to each other or the prosecutrix, testify that they were initially approached, attacked, and sexually assaulted in a manner virtually identical to what the prosecutrix said happened to her, the credibility of the prosecutrix is greatly strengthened. Consistent with its decision in Heuring v. State, 513 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1987), this Court should hold that the probative value of this evidence to corroborate the testimony of the prosecutrix makes it admissible.

In <u>Heuring</u>, the Court held that in a case involving the sexual battery of a child in the family context, evidence of a similar crime committed by the defendant on another **child** in the family is admissible to corroborate the victim's testimony. The Court reasoned that this rule was appropriate because identity is not in issue, and since the victim is typically the sole eyewitness, the credibility of the victim becomes **the** focal issue. Hence, the great psobative value of other similar crime evidence.

The State submits that in cases such as this, where identity is not in issue, and the focal issue is the victim's credibility, the probative value of corroborative other crime evidence is likewise great. Since the rationale for the <u>Heuring</u> holding exists equally in this case, the rule adopted therein for admitting such corroborative evidence should be applied in this case. Indeed, the one authority cited by the <u>Heuring</u> Court

Determining the Admissibility of Evidence of Other Sex Offenses,
25 U.C.L.A. L.Rev. 261 (1977), supports such an application of the Heuring rule.

The Comment a t 285 - 290argues for the pages admissibility of similar other crime evidence in sex crime procecutions, where identity is not in issue, to corroborate the testimony of the victim, without any suggection or indication that such a rule of admissibility should be limited to cases where a child is the victim. Rather, the author of the Comment consistently refers to sex offenses where the victim acquainted with the accused 11 and identity is therefore not in issue, leaving the victim's credibility as the paramount concern for the jury. . Under such circumstances the author argues that the probative value of corroborative evidence of other crimes against similar victims justifies its admission.

This Court in Heuring agreed with the argument advanced in the Comment, with regard to child sexual abuse cases in the family context. The State submits that the probative value of other crime evidence is even greater in cases such as this when the three victims do not know each other. Thus, the possibility that the victims might have collaborated on their accusations or been similarly motivated to falsely accuse a defendant, which

¹¹ Cynthia's encounter with **the** defendant before he attacked her was certainly long enough for her to be "acquainted" with him so that identity was **not** contested.

could occur when victims are members of the same family, does not arise in this case.

In his treatise on Florida Evidence, Professor Charles W. Ehrhardt writes: "The rationale [of Heuring] would also seem to be applicable whenever the defense in a sexual battery prosecution is that the victim fabricated the incident, rather than that the wrong person has been charged." Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 404.18 (1992 Edition). See also Pendleton v. State, 348 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), holding that the trial court properly admitted similar other crime evidence in an adult sexual battery case to corrobarate the testimony given by the victim. Other state courts have upheld the admissibility of other crime evidence to corroborate the testimony of an adult woman, whose credibility had been put in issue by the defense of State v. Plaster, 424 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa, consent. 1988); State v. Fears, 69 Or. App. 606, 688 P.2d 88 (1984).

In this case, where the critical question was whether C had consented to have sex with the defendant, the evidence of other similar crimes he committed on L and B was admissible because it (1) established a common scheme or plan to set up in advance the consent defense he raised at trial, which thus negated that defense, (2) showed that the defendant had the intent to commit nonconsensual sexual battery when he approached C , and (3) corroborated the testimony of C . In affirming the decisions of the trial court and Third District in this case, this Court should

eliminate the confusion in the law created by the decisions in Hodges and Helton and hold that those cases, while correctly finding that other crime evidence showing only propensity and bad character was improperly admitted, contain language which improperly suggests that other crime evidence can never be admitted in a sexual battery prosecution when consent is the defense.

In his brief on the merits, the defendant goes beyond the issue upon which this Court granted jurisdiction and raises other issues, which are not encompassed in the conflict questinn. These issues should not be addressed. <u>Gould v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 1302 (Fla. 1991); <u>State v. Hegstrom</u>, 401 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1981). Should the Court determine that these issues do warrant consideration they should be found to be without merit.

The defendant's feature argument is obviously untenable and should be rejected for the following reasons: (1) there was no contemporaneous feature objection when the other crime evidence was admitted. See Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985); German v. State, 379 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); (2) the defendant has never specified what other crime evidence violated the feature rule; (3) the defendant challenged the credibility of L and B (T. 786-791, 828-834), thus inviting corroborative evidence in response, Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985); Sias v. State, 416 So.2d 1213 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); (4) the jury was appropriately

and repeatedly instructed on the proper use of the evidence. (T. 794, 804, 1103, 1104), Snowden v. State, 537 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); and (5) the relatively small amount of collateral crime evidence was all relevant to the reasons why the other crime evidence was admissible, and did not constitute an attack on defendant's character. Williams v. State, 143 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1962); Ashley v. State, 265 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1972); Snowden v. State, supra.

The argument that the convictions should be reversed because of an alleged inadequate notice of the State's intent to rely on evidence of crimes committed against B is also without merit. On December 22, 1989, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence of Crimes committed against $(R. 92, 93.)^{12}$ This notice was filed as soon as it could offer relevant similar crime became apparent that B evidence. (R. 179.) The defendant filed a Motion to Strike the notice claiming that it had been furnished to him December 26, 1989, only seven days before the then scheduled trial date. At argument on the Motion to Strike, the trial court, after ascertaining that there had been several defense continuances, continued the trial, which eventually commenced on April 23, 1990. (T. 51, 1141-1144.)

A prior notice regarding the crimes committed against L was filed on August 11, 1989. (R. 36.) The sufficiency of the notice regarding L : has never been challenged.

On April 2, 1990, the defendant argued against the admissibility of the collateral crime evidence including that which would come from B . (T. 1-37.) At no point during this argument or the trial did the defendant claim that he was not prepared. Since the defendant was obviously not prejudiced by the notice which he received almost four months before trial actually commenced, the notice was timely. See Garcia v. State, 521 So.2d 191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988).

Contrary to the defendant's claim that the limiting of the defendant's cross-examination of C , L and B constituted reversible error, the State submits that the irrelevant evidence of their sexual activities and drug use was properly excluded.

In accordance with Section 794.022, evidence of a victim's consensual sexual activity with a person other than the defendant is not admissible to support a consent defense unless "...such evidence tends to establish a pattern of conduct or behavior on the part of the victim which is so similar to conduct or behavior in the case that it is relevant to the issue of consent." In <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 386 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), the Court stated that under this provision, the test for admissibility of evidence of a victim's prior consensual sexual activity "...is much Like that for admission of other crime evidence under <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959), and its progeny."

In Kaplan v. State, 451 So.2d 1386 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), the Court held that for evidence to be admissible under the pertinent portion of Section 794.022, the "pattern" must consist of repetitive or frequent conduct or behavior extremely similar to the defendant's version of the encounter. Although, one of the proffered incidents remotely resembled the defendant's account, the Kaplan court held that one episode cannot ectablish a pattern of conduct or behavior. See also Winters v. State, 425 So.2d 203, 204 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). "...few isolated instances presented did not present a pattern of conduct or behavior" and McElveen v. State, 415 So.2d 746, 748 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) "...three specific instances of sexual activity...is not so repetitive or frequent as to establish a pattern of behavior." See also Young v. State, 562 So.2d 370 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990).

In accordance with Section 794,022 and the aforecited case laws, the evidence that C had exchanged sex for drugs or money was properly excluded. The proffered evidence did not establish a frequent or repetitive pattern of extremely similar behavior. There is no indication from the proffer that these other incidents were at all like the defendant's version of what happened between him and C . For example, there is no suggestion that on these other occasions C had sex with someone she had just met, or that she had done so outside, or that she had only unprotected vaginal intercourse, or that she had not initiated the encounter, or that the direct exchanges of

sex for drugs occurred anytime close to the crimes, or that the exchange was for crack cocaine, or that the male partner in anyway resembled the defendant or was associated with him. Clearly, the trial court properly excluded evidence of unrelated, nonspecific dissimilar sexual activities of C with other persons.

At trial, evidence was admitted that C and B had smoked crack cocaine on the night they were attacked by the defendant. (T. 654-657, 817 1004.) The trial court, relying on Edwards v. State, 548 So.2d 656 (Fla. 1989), ruled that drug use by the victims at other times would be inadmissible unless there was other relevant evidence that the drug use affected the witness's ability to observe, remember and recount. Defense counsel proffered that C , L were drug users immediately before and after their encounters with the defendant, but did not claim that there was other relevant evidence to show that such use affected their ability to observe, remember and recount. (T. 771, 990-993.) The trial court correctly excluded such evidence based upon Edwards and its progeny. See Johnson v. State, 565 So.2d 879 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), evidence that it was not uncommon for the sexual battery victim to use cocaine during the period of the sexual battery properly excluded; and Richardson v. State, 561 So.2d 18 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

The defendant's argument that he should have been allowed to introduce evidence that L was a prostitute is

clearly wrong. L testified that she initially agreed to have sex with the defendant in exchange for drugs and money, (T. 1021), and her alleged prostitution would thus have been irrelevant to any issue at trial even if the required pattern of similar behavior had been proffered. The claim that evidence of Lynette's prostitution was admissible to impeach her testimony that she was unemployed is untenable since there was no inconcistency, and, at any rate, whether or not L was employed is a collateral matter. <u>See Gelabert v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

In sum, the State submits that evidence that C or had on unspecified times exchanged sex for drugs of money was properly excluded since it did not establish a pattern of similar conduct or behavior from which it could be concluded that the defendant's claim as to what happened was probable. Evidence of drug use by C , J and B unrelated to this case was properly excluded since in the absence of other evidence, there is no basis for concluding that such drug use affected their testimony.

At any rate, even if the excluded evidence was relevant, its exclusion would have been harmless given the overwhelming weight of the avideice against the defendant, which would not have Geen diminished. See Young v. State, 562 So.2d 370 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). C testimony that she did not engage in consensual sex with the defendant was strongly corroborated by the testimony of L and B who could

not have collaborated on their accusations with each other or Cynthia, (T. 699, 700, 784, 828), that the defendant before and during his crimes acted in virtually the identical manner as he did with Cynthia. The consent defense, which required that the jury believe that C would have left her panties at the scene, flagged down police officers, and, while hysterical, tell them that she had purchased crack cocaine and falsely accuse the defendant, and call for her mother to come to the scene and comfort her, tell her mother she was raped, and then be examined at the Rape Treatment Center, all because the defendant did not give her the crack cocaine that he had promised, was certainly completely undermined by the other crime evidence showing his plan to set up this defense and his intent to engage in Any alleged error in the exclusion of nonconsensual sex. alleged impeachment evidence was therefore harmless.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons and citations of authority, the State submits that this Court should approve the decisions of the trial court and Third District Court of Appeal and hold that the other crime evidence was properly admitted and affirm the defendant's convictions and sentence.